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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 
CASE NO:  12-cv-22439-MGC 

 
MICCOSUKEE TRIBE OF INDIANS  
OF FLORIDA, 
 
 Plaintiff,         
v. 
 
BILLY CYPRESS, et al., 
 
 Defendants. 
________________________________________________________/ 
 

DEFENDANT DEXTER LEHTINEN’S MOTION  
TO DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 
 Defendant Dexter Lehtinen (“Mr. Lehtinen”), through undersigned counsel, pursuant to 

Rules 9(b), 12(b)(1), and 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, hereby moves to 

dismiss the Second Amended Complaint (D.E. 75) (the “Complaint”) and states as follows: 

Introduction 

 As with the prior Amended Complaint (D.E. 13), the basic crux of the Complaint is that 

Plaintiff alleges that its former tribal Chairman embezzled funds through ATM (automated teller 

machine) withdrawals at casinos and used tribal credit cards for personal use.  Notably, nowhere 

in the Complaint is there any allegation that Mr. Lehtinen had any involvement in the ATM 

withdrawals or credit card charges or was even present when such alleged acts occurred.  In 

short, Plaintiff vaguely claims, with absolutely no detail whatsoever, that Mr. Lehtinen was 

somehow aware of these transactions and did not report their existence to others.  

The only place in the Complaint where Plaintiff attempts to make any substantive 

allegations against Mr. Lehtinen is from Paragraphs 292 through 311.  However, those 

allegations are stated in mere conclusory terms.  In general, Plaintiff alleges that Mr. Lehtinen 
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was an attorney who represented Plaintiff and its agencies in various legal matters.  (See 

Complaint, ¶¶ 292-98.)  Those allegations are largely unremarkable.   

Plaintiff then goes on to allege, in skeletal terms, that:  

During his tenure as General Counsel and main attorney for the MICCOSUKEE 
TRIBE, Defendant LEHTINEN had access to the financial records of the 
MICCOSUKEE TRIBE, including, but not limited to, the financial transactions 
subject to this lawsuit. . . . During his tenure as General Counsel and main 
attorney for the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE, Defendant LEHTINEN had the 
opportunity to examine and review the financial transactions and records that are 
the subject of this lawsuit. . . . During his tenure as General Counsel and main 
attorney for the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE, Defendant LEHTINEN did examine and 
review the financial transactions and records subject to this lawsuit. 

 
(Complaint, ¶¶ 299-301.)  Plaintiff does not allege when this occurred, how it occurred, where it 

occurred, and what records were allegedly examined.  The main linchpin of Plaintiff’s theory is 

that he saw unidentified records at an undetermined time.1     

 Plaintiff then goes on to allege, “upon information and belief,” that Mr. Lehtinen attended 

certain meetings of the General Council and Business Council “where he presented a legal report 

and was present during the presentation of the financial report, and failed to disclose the 

information regarding the depletion by Defendant CYPRESS and MARTINEZ of the funds 

belonging to the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE.”  (Complaint, ¶¶ 305-06.)  Other than to vaguely state 

that Mr. Lehtinen “presented a legal report,” Plaintiff does not allege in any detail anything that 

Mr. Lehtinen did at these meetings. 

 Notably, Mr. Lehtinen is a defendant in this case solely for state law claims.  As argued 

herein, even if this Court were to reach the substance of those claims (e.g., the Court determines 

that it has subject matter jurisdiction of the underlying dispute), they should be dismissed. 

  

                                                 
1   As explained herein, these allegations (and others) are belied by other allegations in the 
Complaint, including the attachments which Plaintiff suggests support the claims.   
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Argument 

I. THERE ARE THRESHOLD ISSUES BEFORE THE COURT SHOULD 
ADDRESS THE SUBSTANCE OF THE CLAIMS AGAINST MR. LEHTINEN. 
 

A. There Should Be No Supplemental Jurisdiction Over Mr. Lehtinen. 
 
Plaintiff has not asserted any federal claims against Mr. Lehtinen.2  Presumably, since 

this Court otherwise does not have federal jurisdiction over the state law claims against Mr. 

Lehtinen, Plaintiff is proceeding against Mr. Lehtinen based on supplemental jurisdiction.  See 

28 U.S.C. § 1367 (noting that supplemental jurisdiction includes claims joined against 

“additional parties”).  If this Court dismisses the federal RICO claims against the other 

Defendants, it should decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims.  See 

Adams v. Rothstein, 2012 WL 1605098, at *6 (S.D. Fla. May 8, 2012); 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3).3   

Moreover, independently of the dismissal of the RICO claims, supplemental jurisdiction 

concerning certain of the claims, including the breach of fiduciary duty claim (Count IX) and the 

final “fraudulent misrepresentation” claim (Count X), would not be warranted in any event.  

Section 1367 circumscribes what falls within supplemental jurisdiction: 

[I]n any civil action of which the district courts have original jurisdiction, the 
district courts shall have supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims that are so 
related to claims in the action within such original jurisdiction that they form part 
of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States 
Constitution. 
 

As such, there must be a common nucleus of operative facts.  Carvalho v. Door-Pack, Inc., 565 

F. Supp. 2d 1340, 1341 (S.D. Fla. 2008).  The crux of Plaintiff’s federal claim is a situation 

where the tribe has a dispute with its former Chairman regarding ATM withdrawals and credit 

                                                 
2 In the prior Amended Complaint (D.E. 13), Mr. Lehtinen was a defendant in the federal RICO 
claims.  In the Second Amended Complaint (D.E. 75), Plaintiff dropped Mr. Lehtinen from the 
federal RICO claims and only asserts state law claims against him.   
3 To the extent that other Defendants assert arguments on motions to dismiss to defeat the 
underlying federal RICO claims, Mr. Lehtinen joins in those motions.   
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card charges.  With respect to Count X, Plaintiff attempts to back door what is tantamount to a 

time-barred malpractice claim clothed as “fraudulent misrepresentation” concerning legal tax 

advice.  (See Complaint, ¶¶ 462-477.)  There is no correlation between the alleged ATM 

withdrawals/credit card charges and tax advice (which Plaintiff says dates back to 1995).  

Plaintiff makes this doubly evident in light of the fact that it already asserted a “fraud” claim in 

Count IV and then a separate “fraudulent misrepresentation” claim in Count X.  Likewise, in the 

breach of fiduciary duty claim (Count IX), the basis for the portion of the claim against Mr. 

Lehtinen is the far-fetched theory that he failed to object to a December 2005 summons issued by 

the Internal Revenue Service regarding “Miccosukee Indian Bingo.”  (See Complaint, ¶ 458.)  

There is no allegation that bingo and the later ATM use and credit card charges are related.    

B. As This Is an Intra-Tribal Dispute, This Case Should Not Proceed. 
 

The focal point of the Complaint is Plaintiff’s tribal disputes with Mr. Cypress for acts 

allegedly performed during the time when Mr. Cypress was its Chairman.  In light of the 

allegations in the Complaint, it is mind-boggling that Plaintiff has attempted to turn this dispute 

into a federal RICO case.  For example, at the outset of its Complaint, Plaintiff alleges: 

Defendant CYPRESS was the elected Chairman of the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE 
during the relevant period of time, which is 2005 through and including January 
2010. In this capacity, Defendant CYPRESS oversaw, controlled, supervised and 
had unrestricted access and control over all the financial funds and records of the 
MICCOSUKEE TRIBE which are the subject of this lawsuit. 

 
(Complaint, ¶ 6 (emphasis added).)  The admission that Plaintiff gave Mr. Cypress “unrestricted 

access and control over all of the financial funds” that are the subject of this lawsuit is 

completely devastating to Plaintiff’s case.  If Plaintiff now has misgivings about its own 

previously granting Mr. Cypress “unrestricted” control over these funds, that is, in essence, a 

tribal issue--- not a federal racketeering issue.    
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The decision in In re: Sac & Fox Tribe of the Miss. in Iowa/Meskwaki Casino Litig., 340 

F.3d 749 (8th Cir. 2003), is instructive.  In that case, the tribe attempted to bring a RICO claim 

based on a dispute regarding the authority of a council to act as the governing body of the tribe, 

and the Eighth Circuit affirmed the dismissal of such claim for lack of subject matter jurisdiction 

because the court would first have to make certain conclusions on issues regarding whether the 

council lacked authority.  See id. at 767.  The Eighth Circuit concluded that the determination of 

that issue was an intra-tribal matter that deprived the district court of subject matter jurisdiction.  

Id.  The district court concluded, in dismissing the RICO claim, that the defendant’s acts could 

only qualify as predicate acts if the court first determined that the defendant lacked authority 

under tribal law.  Id. at 753; see also Sac and Fox Tribe of the Miss. in Iowa v. Bear, 258 F. 

Supp. 2d 938, 944 (N.D. Iowa 2003).  In this case, Plaintiff expressly alleges that Mr. Cypress 

was, indeed, authorized by the tribe to control the funds at issue.  (Complaint, ¶ 6.)  Under those 

pled facts, this Court would lack subject matter jurisdiction over such a tribal dispute.   

II. PLAINTIFF FAILS TO COMPLY WITH THE PLEADING REQUIREMENTS. 
 

A. The Complaint Does Not Comply With Basic Pleading Standards. 

 The dictates in Iqbal and Twombly entail “[t]o survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint 

must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible 

on its face.’”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 

550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)).  It follows that, “[b]ut where the well-pleaded facts do not permit the 

court to infer more than the mere possibility of misconduct, the complaint has alleged—but it has 

not shown—that the pleader is entitled to relief.”  Id. at 679 (quotation omitted).    

 As evidenced in the Complaint, the allegations as to Mr. Lehtinen are stated in evasive 

and skeletal terms.  Merely alleging that Mr. Lehtinen “examined” and “reviewed” unidentified 
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“records” at an unspecified time is not sufficient to allege that Mr. Lehtinen was engaged in 

racketeering or fraud.  The allegations against Mr. Lehtinen do not contain any “well-pleaded 

facts” and do not go beyond the “mere possibility of misconduct” which is shunned under the 

Iqbal/Twombly standard.  If Plaintiff is going to invoke the specter of a RICO case or accuse Mr. 

Lehtinen of fraud, it is incumbent upon Plaintiff to identify with adequate specificity the conduct 

of which it is accusing Mr. Lehtinen.  Plaintiff cannot hide behind vague assertions.  For that 

threshold reason alone, the Complaint should be dismissed against Mr. Lehtinen. 

B. The Amended Complaint Is a Prohibited “Shotgun Pleading.” 

A “typical shotgun complaint contains several counts, each one incorporating by 

reference the allegations of its predecessors.”  Strategic Income Fund, LLC v. Spear, Leeds & 

Kellogg Corp., 305 F.3d 1293, 1295 (11th Cir. 2002).  As the Eleventh Circuit has clearly 

directed, such pleadings are “altogether unacceptable.”  Cramer v. Florida, 117 F.3d 1258, 1263 

(11th Cir. 1997).  A shotgun pleading may be dismissed.  See Jovine v. Abbott Labs., Inc., 795 

F. Supp. 2d 1331, 1336-37 (S.D. Fla. 2011). 

Notwithstanding that, in this version of the pleading, Plaintiff omitted the introductory 

paragraph of each count that incorporated all of the other counts, doing so did not eliminate the 

shotgun nature of the pleading.  The Complaint now invokes an unconventional method of 

stating each claim without specifically incorporating any of the prior allegations in the factual 

background of the Complaint.  Consequently, it is implied that each count is included in each 

subsequent count.  Thus, this still constitutes shotgun pleading.  Moreover, a complaint 

containing “rambling recitations” is also a type of shotgun pleading.  See Pelletier v. Zweifel, 

921 F.2d 1465, 1517-18 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 855 (1991). 
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III. PLAINTIFF’S OWN PLEADING DISPOSITIVELY REFUTES THE BASIS FOR 
PLAINTIFF’S THEORY AGAINST MR. LEHTINEN. 

 
 As far as can be discerned from the Complaint, the entire basis of Plaintiff’s theory 

against Mr. Lehtinen is that he allegedly “had access to,” “had the opportunity to examine and 

review,” and “did examine and review” unspecified “financial transactions” and “records.”  (See 

Complaint, ¶¶ 299-301.)  Plaintiff does not say when, where, or how this occurred or what 

“financial transactions” and “records” were purportedly reviewed.  Moreover, there is no 

allegation in the Complaint that Mr. Lehtinen had any communications with any of the other 

Defendants regarding this issue, nor is there any allegation that Mr. Lehtinen had any 

involvement with the ATM and credit card transactions which form the crux of the Complaint.  

In short, Plaintiff vaguely claims that Mr. Lehtinen should be made a defendant in this case 

merely because he access to and saw some unidentified documents. 

 Unfortunately for Plaintiff, Plaintiff shoots itself in the foot in attempting to substantiate 

these flimsy allegations.  Specifically, Plaintiff pleads that the basis for its assertion against Mr. 

Lehtinen is as follows: 

During his tenure as General Counsel and main attorney for the MICCOSUKEE 
TRIBE, Defendant LEHTINEN did examine and review the financial transactions 
and records subject to this lawsuit. See a copy of the Tr. Evid. Hr. to Disqualify at 
32:3-8, 33:1-24, 34:1-5, 35:23-25, 36:1-6, 37:9-15, 49:13-20, 55:6-8, attached as 
Exhibit 5.    
 

(Complaint, ¶ 301.)  This begs the question:  What do the citations to the hearing transcript, 

which is attached as Exhibit 5 to the Complaint, say? 

 Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 10(c), the attachments to a complaint constitute “a part of the 

pleading for all purposes.”   This includes considering the attachment as part of the pleading on a 

Rule 12(b)(6) motion.  Thaeter v. Palm Beach County Sheriff’s Office, 449 F.3d 1342, 1352 n.7 

(11th Cir. 2006).  Moreover, it is well-established that “when the exhibits contradict the general 
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and conclusory allegations of the pleading, the exhibits govern.”  Crenshaw v. Lister, 556 F.3d 

1283, 1292 (11th Cir. 2009) (quoting Griffin Indus., Inc. v. Irvin, 496 F.3d 1189, 1206 (11th Cir. 

2007)).  Further, when a plaintiff attaches documents and relies on them as the basis for a claim, 

dismissal is appropriate if the attachment negates the claim.  See id.   

 Much to Mr. Lehtinen’s benefit, not only does Plaintiff attach a document that negates 

Plaintiff’s claim, but Plaintiff (fatally to its own claims) specifically cites to the document, and 

the exact portions thereof, as the express basis for its claims against Mr. Lehtinen.  (See 

Complaint, ¶ 301.)   Plaintiff claims that these citations to a hearing transcript are the bases for 

the allegation that Mr. Lehtinen “did examine and review” records.  (Id.)  Plaintiff first refers to 

Page 32:3-8 of the transcript.  That reference is merely an exchange between Plaintiff’s counsel 

and Mr. Lehtinen confirming that Mr. Lehtinen served a document request in the state court 

litigation with Plaintiff, which case was filed in 2011.  Plaintiff then refers to Page 33:1-24 of the 

transcript.  That reference is Plaintiff’s counsel reciting the text of the document requests.  

Plaintiff then refers to Page 34:1-5.  That reference is merely Mr. Lehtinen confirming that he 

attended General Council meetings.  Plaintiff then refers to Page 35:23-25.  That reference is 

merely Mr. Lehtinen again confirming that he attended General Council meetings.  Plaintiff then 

refers to Page 36:1-6.  That reference is merely another instance of Mr. Lehtinen confirming that 

he attended General Council meetings.  Plaintiff then refers to Page 37:9-15.  That reference 

concerns Mr. Lehtinen confirming that the General Council is the supreme governing body of the 

tribe.  Plaintiff then refers to Page 49:13-20.  That passage concerns Mr. Lehtinen’s testimony 

that he attended meetings in which tribe finances were discussed but that he did not stay for the 

finance director’s report if his legal report was over.  Plaintiff then refers to Page 55:6-8.  That 
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passage concerns Mr. Lehtinen confirming that he discussed environmental matters when he 

addressed the General Council.  At best, these allegations against Mr. Lehtinen are non-sensical. 

Based on the foregoing, there is not one iota of any inference in those cited passages 

indicating that Mr. Lehtinen “did examine and review” any records concerning Plaintiff’s claims 

in this case (presumably, Plaintiff is referring to the ATM withdrawals and credit card charges at 

issue).  The only document referenced in those passages is Mr. Lehtinen’s document request 

filed in the state court litigation.  Since Plaintiff pleads that its allegations that Mr. Lehtinen “did 

examine and review” records are amplified by the transcript passages, those passages attached to 

the Complaint govern.  See Crenshaw, 556 F.3d at 1292.  In short, this evidences that Plaintiff’s 

feeble Complaint is merely a shake down with no basis to assert a claim against Mr. Lehtinen. 

 As the linchpin of Plaintiff vaguely claiming that Mr. Lehtinen had access to records and 

examined them fails, all claims against Mr. Lehtinen should be dismissed.  For example, in the 

Florida civil RICO claim, Plaintiff alleges that the sole predicate act committed by Mr. Lehtinen 

is fraud, and Plaintiff incorporates the allegations of Paragraphs 292 through 311.  (Complaint, 

¶¶ 410-11.)  The allegations of “access” and “opportunity” and that Mr. Lehtinen “did examine 

and review” unidentified “records” is Plaintiff’s precursor to assert a claim against Mr. Lehtinen.  

As those conclusory allegations fail, the RICO claim necessarily fails.    

IV. THE FRAUD CLAIM FAILS. 

 As noted above, Plaintiff has gutted its own fraud claim by contradicting, in its own 

pleading, its theory against Mr. Lehtinen.  However, even if Plaintiff could argue that its vague 

fraud claim should not be dismissed outright, the fraud claim in Count IV fails as to Mr. 

Lehtinen in that it does not comply with Rule 9(b).  See Garfield v. NDC Health Corp., 466 F.3d 

1255, 1262 (11th Cir. 2006) (noting that fraud requires identifying particulars of who, what, 
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where, when, and how).  As the Eleventh Circuit has noted, allegations of fraud “must comply 

not only with the plausibility criteria articulated in Twombly and Iqbal but also with 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 9(b)’s heightened pleading standard, which requires that ‘[i]n alleging fraud or 

mistake, a party must state with particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake,’” 

and “the plaintiff must allege facts with respect to each defendant’s participation in the fraud.”   

American Dental Ass’n v. Cigna Corp., 605 F.3d 1283, 1291 (11th Cir. 2010) (emphasis added).  

As noted above, at most, Plaintiff merely alleges that Mr. Lehtinen saw unidentified documents 

and that he was present at meetings.  Plaintiff does not allege what the documents were, what 

was in the documents, and when and where Mr. Lehtinen allegedly saw the documents.  Nor 

does Plaintiff allege specifically what occurred, or was said, at the meetings referenced in the 

Complaint.4  Accordingly, the fraud claim fails for that reason alone. 

Since Plaintiff appears to claim that this is a fraud by concealment, Plaintiff would be 

required to allege the following elements: 

(1) a misrepresentation of material fact or suppression of the truth; (2)[a] 
knowledge of the representor of the misrepresentation, or [b] representations 
made by the representor without knowledge as to either the truth or falsity, or [c] 
representations made under circumstances in which the representor ought to have 
known, if he did not know, of the falsity thereof; (3) an intention that the 
representor induce another to act on it; and (4) resulting injury to the party acting 
in justifiable reliance on the representation. 
 

Greenberg v. Miami Children’s Hospital Research Institute, Inc., 264 F. Supp. 2d 1064, 1073 

(S.D. Fla. 2003) (quoting Jones v. General Motors Corp., 24 F. Supp. 2d 1335, 1339 (M.D. Fla. 

1998)).  Such elements are not alleged against Mr. Lehtinen.   

                                                 
4  Plaintiff’s reliance on the attachments to the Complaint further dooms its allegations.  As 
indicated in Exhibit 5 to the Complaint, Mr. Lehtinen only attended meetings to give his legal 
report, which lasted 15-30 minutes (of what appear to be meetings that lasted a total of seven to 
nine hours), and he left after giving his legal report.  (Complaint, Exhibit 5 at 36.) 
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Moreover, Plaintiff implies that Mr. Lehtinen committed a fraud by omission by failing 

to disclose the activities of the tribe’s Chairman, such as his shopping and gambling habits.  

However, there is no allegation that Mr. Lehtinen was retained to oversee the Chairman’s 

personal life or to review ATM records or credit card statements and report his findings to 

others.  See, e.g., Tew v. Arky, Freed, Stearns, Watson, Greer, Weaver & Harris, P.A., 655 F. 

Supp. 1571 (S.D. Fla. 1987) (lawyer could not be liable for failure to report financial problems 

where there was no evidence that he was retained with respect to financial problems), aff’d, 846 

F.2d 753 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 854 (1988).  The skeletal fraud allegations against Mr. 

Lehtinen demonstrate an act of desperation by Plaintiff. 

V. THE AIDING AND ABETTING FRAUD CLAIM FAILS. 

 In Count V, Plaintiff asserts an action for aiding and abetting fraud.  The elements of a 

cause of action for aiding and abetting a fraud (if such a cause of action even exists)5 are: (1) the 

existence of an underlying fraud; (2) the fact that the defendant had knowledge of the fraud; and 

(3) the defendant provided substantial assistance to advance the commission of the fraud.  ZP 

No. 54, 917 So. 2d at 372.  Plaintiff has failed to allege that Mr. Lehtinen had knowledge of the 

fraud and that he provided substantial assistance. 

The aiding and abetting claim here is again stated in skeletal terms.  Plaintiff refers to a 

tax examination in that count, but the relevance of that to the basis for this case is not explained.  

In any event, Plaintiff vaguely asserts that the aiding and abetting was done “through the specific 

actions and omissions described throughout this Second Amended Complaint.”  (Complaint, ¶ 

                                                 
5   While we are mindful that this Court has recognized aiding and abetting fraud, some courts 
have debated whether such a cause of action even exists in Florida law.  See ZP No. 54 Ltd. 
Partnership v. Fidelity and Deposit Co. of Md., 917 So. 2d 368, 371-72 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005); 
Tippens v. Round Island Plantation, LLC, 2009 WL 2365347, at *5 (S.D. Fla. July 31, 2009). 
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332.)6  Notwithstanding Plaintiff’s self-serving use of the word “specific,” there is no specificity 

alleged as to Mr. Lehtinen.  To extent that aiding and abetting fraud may exist under Florida law, 

it is required to be pled with particularity.  Tippens, 2009 WL 2365347, at *5.  

From a substantive basis, the aiding and abetting claim is lacking.  It has been noted that, 

“[i]n order for a claim of aiding and abetting to survive a motion to dismiss, the plaintiff must 

allege that the defendant had actual knowledge of the underlying wrongdoing.”  Lawrence v. 

Bank of America, N.A., 2010 WL 3467501, at *3 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 30, 2010) (emphasis added), 

aff’d, 455 Fed. Appx. 904 (11th Cir. 2012).  In other words, the “actual knowledge” requirement 

means that constructive knowledge or “should have known” allegations are insufficient.  See, 

e.g., Lamm v. State Street Bank & Trust Co., 2012 WL 3828287, at *8 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 21, 

2012); Groom v. Bank of America, 2012 WL 50250, at *2-*3 (M.D. Fla. Jan. 9, 2012).  

Allegations that are conclusory in nature fail to satisfy the actual knowledge requirement.  

Lamm, 2012 WL 3828287, at *8.  Likewise, an allegation that there was “actual knowledge” 

does not stand where the facts alleged only support a “should have known” theory.  See, e.g., 

Platinum Estates, Inc. v. TD Bank, N.A., 2012 WL 760791, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 8, 2012).  In 

this case, Plaintiff’s allegations, once again, are merely stated in conclusory terms with respect to 

Mr. Lehtinen’s alleged assistance and state of knowledge.  Therefore, this claim fails. 

 As noted above, Plaintiff’s sole theory against Mr. Lehtinen, based on its reliance on a 

hearing transcript from the state court litigation, is that Mr. Lehtinen served document requests in 

the state court litigation (which was filed in 2011) and that Mr. Lehtinen attended General 

                                                 
6   In that count, Plaintiff alleges:  “In the specific case of Defendant LEHTINEN, he used his 
representation of the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE to actively assist, aid and abet the defense of 
Defendant CYPRESS, and to protect the individual legal interests of Defendant CYPRESS at the 
expense and detriment of the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE, including, but not limited to, the 
concealment of the fraud and theft being perpetrated by Defendant CYPRESS and Defendant 
MARTINEZ.”  (Complaint, ¶ 328.)  That allegation is completely devoid of any substance.   
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Council meetings.  That does not amount to “actual knowledge” of the specific fraud that forms 

the basis of Plaintiff’s aiding and abetting claim, nor does representing the tribe in a federal tax 

examination constitute substantial assistance.   

VI. THE FLORIDA CIVIL RICO CLAIMS FAIL.7    

 A. Merely Tracking the Statute Does Not State a RICO Claim. 

Typical of the conclusory style of pleading claims against Mr. Lehtinen, the Complaint 

(at ¶¶ 406-08) alleges the following as the purported RICO violations by Mr. Lehtinen: 

406. Defendant LEHTINEN with criminal intent, received proceeds, derived 
directly or indirectly, from a pattern of criminal activity, involving fraud, to use or 
invest, directly or indirectly, such proceeds, in the operation of the Enterprise 
described above, which resulted in a loss of millions of dollars to the 
MICCOSUKEE TRIBE. These actions by Defendant LEHTINEN are in direct 
violation of § 772.103(1) Fla. Stat. 
 
407. Defendant LEHTINEN, through a pattern of criminal activity, involving 
fraud, maintained control of the affairs of the Enterprise described above resulting 
in a loss of millions of dollars to the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE. These actions by 
Defendant LEHTINEN, are in direct violation of § 772.103(2) Fla. Stat.  
 
408. Defendant LEHTINEN, associated with, the above described Enterprise to 
conduct directly the affairs of such Enterprise through a pattern of criminal 
activity involving fraud, which resulted in a loss of millions of dollars to the 
MICCOSUKEE TRIBE. These actions by Defendant LEHTINEN, are in direct 
violation of § 772.103(3) Fla. Stat. 
 

 Plaintiff’s bare bones allegations merely copy the language from the Florida RICO 

statute.  It has been held that Florida RICO claims are insufficient where “the allegations merely 

track the language of the statute in an attempt to allege a cause of action.”  Eagletech 

Communications, Inc. v. Bryn Mawr Inv. Group, Inc., 79 So. 3d 855, 854 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012) 

                                                 
7  Plaintiff has asserted both federal and Florida RICO claims in the Complaint.  As the Florida 
act was patterned on the federal act, the analysis employed in examining federal RICO claims on 
a motion to dismiss is equally applicable to Florida state RICO claims.  Jackson v. BellSouth 
Telecommunications, 372 F.3d 1250, 1263-64 (11th Cir. 2004).  Mr. Lehtinen therefore cites to 
case law regarding both the federal and Florida RICO acts. 
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(affirming dismissal of Florida RICO claim); Ginsberg v. Lennar Fla. Holdings, Inc., 645 So.2d 

490, 501 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994) (ordering trial court to dismiss Florida RICO claim and noting that 

“[a] party does not properly allege a cause of action by alleging in conclusive form, which tracks 

the language of the statute, acts which lack factual allegations and merely state bare legal 

conclusions”), rev. denied, 659 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1995); see also Bacon v. Stiefel Labs., Inc., 677 

F. Supp. 2d 1331, 1341 (S.D. Fla. 2010) (dismissing claim where complaint tracked language of 

ERISA statute without providing facts to support allegations).  Indeed, as the Supreme Court has 

noted, “[a] pleading that offers ‘labels and conclusions’ or a ‘formulaic recitation of the elements 

of a cause of action will not do.’”  Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555).   

 Plaintiff’s merely parroting the statutory text is also problematic for Plaintiff as the three 

subsections of Section 772.103 (and its Section 1962 federal analogs) are distinct and have 

different elements.  For example, a Section 1962(a)/Section 772.103(1) claim requires a 

reinvestment by the RICO defendant and injury caused by the reinvestment.  See Super Vision 

Int’l, Inc. v. Mega Int’l Commercial Bank Co., 534 F. Supp. 2d 1326, 1341-42 (S.D. Fla. 2008); 

Genord v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Mich., 2008 WL 5070149, at *4 (S.D. Fla. Nov. 24, 

2008).  There is no allegation here regarding Mr. Lehtinen using or investing income to acquire 

or establish a RICO enterprise, let alone that Plaintiff was injured by reason of any such 

reinvestment.  Similarly, a Section 1962(b)/Section 772.103(2) claim is based on the defendant 

acquiring or maintaining control of the enterprise.  There is no allegation regarding acquiring or 

maintaining any interest or control of an enterprise by Mr. Lehtinen within the meaning of 

Section 1962(b).8  These claims, therefore, should be dismissed.  See Smart Science Labs., Inc. 

v. Promotional Marketing Servs., Inc., 2008 WL 2790219, at *6 (M.D. Fla. July 18, 2008) 

                                                 
8  It does not even allege that Mr. Lehtinen was part of the “Enterprise.”  (See Complaint, ¶ 20.) 
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(dismissing Section 1962(a) and (b) claims where there was no allegation of defendant deriving 

income from racketeering activity or injury to plaintiff by reason of defendant investing income 

or proceeds derived from racketeering activity); Gristede’s Foods, Inc. v. Unkechauge Nation, 

532 F. Supp. 2d 439, 447-48 (E.D.N.Y. 2007) (dismissing Indian tribe’s 1962(a) and 1962(b) 

claims because it failed to allege “investment injury” and “acquisition or maintenance injury” 

distinct from injury caused by predicate acts).  It should be remembered that Mr. Lehtinen is only 

being accused of having “examined” records.  There is no allegation that Mr. Lehtinen received 

the funds concerning ATM withdrawals or credit card charges, let alone that he reinvested them. 

  Likewise, there are no facts pled to indicate that a Section 772.103(3) violation by Mr. 

Lehtinen proximately caused Plaintiff injury (not to mention how Plaintiff could be so injured 

when it has already alleged that Mr. Cypress had “unrestricted access and control” over funds).  

See Beck v. Prupis, 162 F.3d 1090, 1095-96 (11th Cir. 1998), aff’d, 529 U.S. 494 (2000). 

B. Mr. Lehtinen Is Not Alleged To Be Part of the RICO Enterprise. 

The Section 772.103(3) claim (i.e., the equivalent of Section 1962(c)) fails because Mr. 

Lehtinen was not part of the “Enterprise.”  In order to conduct or participate, directly or 

indirectly, in the conduct of a RICO enterprise’s affairs within the meaning of the statute, “one 

must participate in the operation or management of the enterprise itself.”  Reves v. Ernst & 

Young, 507 U.S. 170, 185 (1993) (accountants performing audit did not participate in operation 

or management of enterprise’s affairs).   

 In this case, the Court does not even have to reach the issue of whether Mr. Lehtinen rose 

to the level of “operating” or “managing” a RICO enterprise.  As Plaintiff expressly alleges, Mr. 

Lehtinen was not even part of what Plaintiff defines as the “Enterprise.”  Indeed, Plaintiff 

defines the RICO “Enterprise” as follows: 
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The individuals associated in fact that comprise the Enterprise are Defendants 
CYPRESS, MARTINEZ, HERNANDEZ, LEWIS, TEIN, LEWIS TEIN, P.L., 
and MORGAN STANLEY. 
 

(Complaint, ¶ 20; see also Complaint, ¶ 334 (for the Florida RICO, using the same definition of 

“Enterprise” as alleged in the federal RICO).)  Mr. Lehtinen is noticeably absent from this 

definition.  For that reason alone, Mr. Lehtinen should be dismissed from the RICO claims.  He 

was not part of the purported Enterprise.  

C. Plaintiff Does Not Allege a “Pattern of Criminal Activity” Against Mr. Lehtinen. 

Plaintiff alleges that “Defendant LEHTINEN participated in a pattern of criminal activity 

as defined in § 772.102(1)(a)(22) Fla. Stat. by committing multiple acts of fraud.”  (Complaint, ¶ 

409.)  However, at best, Plaintiff suggests that its claim is completely premised on one thing that 

Mr. Lehtinen purportedly did, i.e., the amorphous reference that Mr. Lehtinen “did examine and 

review the financial transactions and records subject to this lawsuit.”  (Complaint, ¶ 301.)  A 

plaintiff cannot maintain a Florida RICO action that arises out of a single transaction.  See 

Oglesbee v. Indymac Fin. Services, Inc., 686 F. Supp. 2d 1313, 1317 (S.D. Fla. 2010).  Of 

course, this is putting aside that the allegations lack the requisite detail and, further, that they are 

negated by the transcript attached to the Complaint.   

D. The Florida RICO Conspiracy Count Does Not State a Claim. 

A review of Plaintiff’s bare bones Florida RICO conspiracy claim (Count VII) reveals 

that it is completely devoid of substance.  As to Mr. Lehtinen, Plaintiff refers to its prior 

allegations against Mr. Lehtinen (Complaint, ¶ 425), but a close review of those allegations 

indicates that there is nothing demonstrating that Mr. Lehtinen conspired with anyone to commit 

racketeering.  Plaintiff goes on to allege that, “by their words and actions,” the Defendants 

(including Mr. Lehtinen) “manifested an agreement to the commission of the substantive Florida 
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RICO violations and to the commission of two (2) or more predicate acts through participation 

and management in the conduct of the affairs of the Enterprise.”  (Complaint, ¶ 427.)  Of course, 

the Complaint does not contain any substantiation of such “words and actions” by Mr. Lehtinen. 

As noted above, Plaintiff has not even included Mr. Lehtinen within the Enterprise.  (See 

Complaint, ¶ 20.)  Moreover, in describing the alleged conspiracy, Plaintiff alleges as follows: 

The MICCOSUKEE TRIBE re-avers and re-alleges paragraphs 165 through 188 
which describe the conspiracy between Defendant CYPRESS, Defendant 
MARTINEZ, Defendant HERNANDEZ, Defendant LEWIS, Defendant TEIN, 
Defendant LEWIS TEIN, P.L., and Defendant MORGAN STANLEY. 
 

(Complaint, ¶ 418.)  It is noteworthy that, even in the conclusory allegation defining the 

purported conspiracy, Plaintiff has omitted Mr. Lehtinen.    

As the Eleventh Circuit has noted:  “A plaintiff can establish a RICO conspiracy claim in 

one of two ways:  (1) by showing that the defendant agreed to the overall objective of the 

conspiracy; or (2) by showing that the defendant agreed to commit two predicate acts.”  Republic 

of Panama v. BCCI Holdings (Luxembourg) S.A., 119 F.3d 935, 950 (11th Cir. 1997).  The 

Eleventh Circuit has mandated that it is required that a RICO plaintiff “allege an illegal 

agreement to violate a substantive provision of the RICO statute.”  Jackson, 372 F.3d at 1269.  

The Eleventh Circuit has further noted that, “[i]n analyzing the conspiracy claim under the 

plausibility standard, Iqbal instructs us that our first task is to eliminate any allegations in 

Plaintiffs’ complaint that are merely legal conclusions.”  American Dental, 605 F.3d at 1293; see 

also Mickens v. Tenth Judicial Circuit, 181 Fed. Appx. 865, 876 (11th Cir. 2006) (allegations that 

defendants generally covered and concealed other defendants’ crimes and torts failed to allege 

agreement with specificity), cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1096 (2006); Carter v. MGA, Inc., 189 Fed. 

Appx. 893, 895 (11th Cir. 2006) (conclusory allegations of conspiracy were insufficient), cert. 

denied, 549 U.S. 1339 (2007). 
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The vague conspiracy allegations in the Complaint are the type of allegations that are 

deemed insufficient under the American Dental standard.  There are no factual allegations that 

Mr. Lehtinen agreed to the overall objective of the conspiracy or that he agreed to commit two 

predicate acts.  It is obvious from the Complaint that there is no allegation that Mr. Lehtinen had 

any interaction with anyone regarding the ATM withdrawals and credit card transactions which 

form the basis for the RICO claims. 

Finally, to the extent that Plaintiff relies on federal statutes as part of the Florida 

conspiracy, they do not substantiate such a claim.  Plaintiff’s claims of mail fraud do not comply 

with Rule 9(b).  Moreover, Plaintiff loses sight of the fact that money laundering requires 

pleading an underlying “specified unlawful activity”; failure to do so is fatal to a complaint.  See 

West 79th St. Corp. v. Congregation Kahl Minchas Chinuch, 2004 WL 2187069, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. 

Sept. 29, 2004); Flores v. Emerich & Fike, 2009 WL 900738, at *9 (E.D. Cal. Mar. 31, 2009).  

Overzealous ATM withdrawals and credit card use are not “specified unlawful activity.”   

VII. THE BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY CLAIM FAILS. 

 A claim for breach of fiduciary duty requires that: (1) the defendant owed the plaintiff a 

fiduciary duty; (2) the defendant breached that fiduciary duty; and (3) the breach is the proximate 

cause of damages to the plaintiff.  See Gracey v. Eaker, 837 So. 2d 348, 353 (Fla. 2002).  While 

Plaintiff’s breach of fiduciary duty claim is jumbled, it appears that its allegation against Mr. 

Lehtinen is two-fold.  First, Plaintiff suggests, in conclusory fashion, that Mr. Lehtinen 

concealed Mr. Cypress’s activities.  (Complaint, ¶ 457.)  Second, Plaintiff contends that Mr. 

Lehtinen’s compliance with IRS summonses was a breach of fiduciary duty.  (Id., ¶ 458.) 

 As to the first theory, Plaintiff does not have a valid contention.  There is no allegation in 

the Complaint that would substantiate that Mr. Lehtinen was retained by Plaintiff to monitor Mr. 
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Cypress’s activities on alleged gambling junkets or spending sprees.  Even if Plaintiff’s 

allegation that Mr. Lehtinen saw unspecified documents were true, it is well-settled that Mr. 

Lehtinen did not have a duty to report everything he observed.  See 7 Am. Jur. 2d Attorneys at 

Law, § 139 (2012) (noting that “an attorney does not owe a client a duty to inform the client of 

matters beyond the scope of the representation”).  This is a particularly weak contention by 

Plaintiff since Plaintiff concedes that the tribe permitted Mr. Cypress with “unrestricted access 

and control” over the funds at issue.  (Complaint, ¶ 6.)  This would beg the question as to why 

anyone, let alone Mr. Lehtinen, would be required to report to anyone as to Mr. Cypress’s use of 

ATM machines and credit cards.   

 Plaintiff’s second theory makes no sense and is self-contradictory.  It should be 

remembered that Plaintiff’s overarching theme in this case is that Mr. Lehtinen allegedly helped 

conceal financial information.  Plaintiff contends that Mr. Lehtinen disclosed too much financial 

information in complying with an IRS summons.  Plaintiff’s theories fall on their own weight.   

 In addition, Plaintiff has lumped the various Defendants together in the same breach of 

fiduciary duty count, but the problem is that Plaintiff is alleging different types of duties.  That is 

insufficient, particularly where Plaintiff lumps all of the Defendants (which have varying degrees 

of relationship with Plaintiff) as some sort of collective cause of the alleged injury.  See, e.g., 

Land-Cellular Corp. v. Zokaides, 2006 WL 3039964, at *9 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 26, 2006) (dismissing 

breach of fiduciary duty claim for failure to allege proximate causation of injury). 

VIII. THE FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION CLAIM FAILS. 

 First of all, the fraudulent misrepresentation claim does not comply with Rule 9(b).  The 

Complaint alleges that “[f]rom February 2, 1995 through and including January 2010, during 

General Council Meetings Defendant CYPRESS and Defendant LEHTINEN re-assured 
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members of the MICCOSUKEE TRIBE that these monies were being dutifully set aside for this 

purpose.”  (Complaint, ¶ 465.)  Thus, Plaintiff does not identify specific dates within a 15-year 

period, nor does it identify what Mr. Lehtinen specifically said.   

 Furthermore, there is no allegation that Mr. Lehtinen intended for Plaintiff to rely on a 

false statement.  This is a required element.  See Mickens, 181 Fed. Appx. at 876-77. 

IX. THE OVERLY BROAD PRAYER FOR RELIEF SHOULD BE STRICKEN. 
 
 The “Relief Requested” section of the Complaint seeks relief that far exceeds what is 

provided for under the RICO laws.  (See Complaint at pp. 85-86.)  For example, Plaintiff seeks 

the appointment of a receiver and the seizure of “all assets” of all Defendants (i.e., not just 

alleged proceeds from the alleged racketeering conduct and not just particular Defendants).  (See 

id. at p. 86.)  That type of pre-judgment relief is not available.  See Mitsubishi Int’l Corp. v. 

Cardinal Textile Sales, Inc., 14 F.3d 1507 (11th Cir. 1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1146 (1995).   

In addition, Plaintiff seeks certain relief against “Defendants” pursuant to the federal 

RICO laws, but it should be noted that Mr. Lehtinen is not a party to the federal claims.  (See 

Complaint at pp. 309-310.)  Accordingly, such relief cannot be maintained against Mr. Lehtinen. 

Conclusion 

 For the foregoing reasons, the Second Amended Complaint should be dismissed as to Mr. 

Lehtinen with prejudice.  Even where dismissal is warranted for failure to plead with specificity, 

the dismissal should be with prejudice.  Plaintiff has now had three chances to plead claims 

against Mr. Lehtinen.  In fact, Plaintiff was warned by this Court to file a pleading that complied 

with certain criteria.  (See D.E. 55.)  Notwithstanding the stern warning, the pleading continues 

to be woefully deficient.  Finally, Mr. Lehtinen should be awarded his costs and attorneys’ fees, 

including pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 772.104. 
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